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penalty provisions of the law apply to any 
person (an entity of any type covered under 
1 U.S.C. 1, including but not limited to the 
following: a railroad; a manager, supervisor, 
official, or other employee or agent of a rail-
road; any owner, manufacturer, lessor, or 
lessee of railroad equipment, track, or facili-
ties; any independent contractor providing 
goods or services to a railroad; and any em-
ployee of such owner, manufacturer, lessor, 
lessee, or independent contractor), except 
that a penalty may be assessed against an 
individual only for a willful violation. See 
appendix A to 49 CFR part 209. For violations 
that occurred on September 3, 1992, a person 
who violates the Act is liable for a civil pen-
alty, as the Secretary of Transportation 
deems reasonable, in an amount not less 
than $500 nor more than $11,000, except that 
where a grossly negligent violation or a pat-
tern of repeated violations has created an 
imminent hazard of death or injury to per-
sons, or has caused death or injury, a penalty 
not to exceed $22,000 may be assessed. The 
Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment 
Act of 1990 as amended by the Debt Collec-
tion Improvement Act of 1996 required agen-
cies to increase the maximum civil mone-
tary penalty for inflation. The amounts in-
creased from $10,000 to $11,000 and from 
$20,000 to $22,000 respectively. 

Each employee who is required or per-
mitted to be on duty for a longer period than 
prescribed by law or who does not receive a 
required period of rest represents a separate 
and distinct violation and subjects the rail-
road to a separate civil penalty. In the case 
of a violation of section 2(a)(3) or (a)(4) of the 
Act, each day a facility is in noncompliance 
constitutes a separate offense and subjects 
the railroad to a separate civil penalty. 

In compromising a civil penalty assessed 
under the Act, FRA takes into account the 
nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of 
the violation committed, and, with respect 
to the person found to have committed such 
violation, the degree of culpability, any his-
tory of prior or subsequent offenses, ability 
to pay, effect on ability to continue to do 
business and such other matters as justice 
may require. 

Statute of limitations. No suit may be 
brought after the expiration of two years 
from the date of violation unless administra-
tive notification of the violation has been 
provided to the person to be charged within 
that two year period. In no event may a suit 
be brought after expiration of the period 
specified in 28 U.S.C. 2462. 

Exemptions. A railroad which employs not 
more than 15 persons covered by the Hours of 
Service Act (including signalmen and hos-
tlers) may be exempted from the law’s re-
quirements by the FRA after hearing and for 
good cause shown. The exemption must be 
supported by a finding that it is in the public 
interest and will not adversely affect safety. 

The exemption need not relate to all carrier 
employees. In no event may any employee of 
an exempt railroad be required or permitted 
to work beyond 16 hours continuously or in 
the aggregate within any 24-hour period. Any 
exemption is subject to review at least annu-
ally. 

[42 FR 27596, May 31, 1977, as amended at 43 
FR 30804, July 18, 1978; 53 FR 28601, July 28, 
1988; 55 FR 30893, July 27, 1990; 58 FR 18165, 
Apr. 8, 1993; 61 FR 20495, May 7, 1996; 63 FR 
11622, Mar. 10, 1998]

APPENDIX B TO PART 228—SCHEDULE OF 
CIVIL PENALTIES 1

Section Violation Willful viola-
tion 

Subpart B—Records and Re-
porting: 

228.9 Railroad records ...... $500 $1,000
228.11 Hours of duty 

records ............................ 500 1,000
228.17 Dispatcher’s record 500 1,000
228.19 Monthly reports of 

excess service ................ 1,000 2,000

1 A penalty may be assessed against an individual only for 
a willful violation. The Administrator reserves the right to as-
sess a penalty of up to $20,000 for any violation where cir-
cumstances warrant. See 49 CFR part 209, appendix A. 

[53 FR 52931, Dec. 29, 1988]

APPENDIX C TO PART 228—GUIDELINES 
FOR CLEAN, SAFE, AND SANITARY 
RAILROAD PROVIDED CAMP CARS 

1. Definitions applicable to these Guidelines.
(a) Camp Cars mean trailers and on-track 

vehicles, including outfit, camp, or bunk 
cars or modular homes mounted on flat cars, 
used to house or accommodate railroad em-
ployees. Wreck trains are not included. 

(b) Employee means any worker whose serv-
ice is covered by the Hours of Service Act or 
who is defined as an employee for purposes of 
section 2(a)(3) of that Act. 

(c) Lavatory means a basin or similar ves-
sel used primarily for washing of the hands, 
arms, face, and head. 

(d) Nonwater carriage toilet facility means a 
toilet facility not connected to a sewer. 

(e) Number of employees means the number 
of employees assigned to occupy the camp 
cars. 

(f) Personal service room means a room used 
for activities not directly connected with the 
production or service function performed by 
the carrier establishment. Such activities in-
clude, but are not limited to, first-aid, med-
ical services, dressing, showering, toilet use, 
washing, and eating. 

(g) Potable water means water that meets 
the quality standards prescribed in the U.S. 
Public Health Service Drinking Water 
Standards, published at 42 CFR part 72, or is 
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